IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC02-2191 Lower Tribunal No.: 86-6123-CF

GROVER REED,

Appellant

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Christopher J. Anderson, Esquire Florida Bar No.: 0976385 645 Mayport Road, Suite 4-G

Atlantic Beach, FL 32233 (904) 246-4448 Attorney for Appellant

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In this brief the Appellant is also referred to as "Defendant" or "Grover Reed." References to the record on appeal are in the form of "R1, p12," with "R" denoting the record volume number and "p" denoting the record page number. All references to the original jury trial transcripts are in the form of "TT 42," with TT" designating the trial transcript page number, as originally paginated by the court reporter.

The appellant has filed two motions for post-conviction relief. The second one is the subject of this appeal. It was filed on May 28, 1996 and is entitled <u>Consolidated Supplemental and/or Amended Motion to Vacate Judgments of</u> <u>Conviction and Sentence</u>. Here, it is called simply the "subject motion." The evidentiary hearing on that motion is called simply the "evidentiary hearing."

During early pre-trial proceedings the Defendant was represented briefly by Assistant Public Defender Alan Chipperfield. Throughout this brief he will be referred to by name and "Defendant's public defender" and "Defendant's first lawyer." During later pre-trial proceedings and continuing through the jury trial, the Defendant was represented by Richard Nichols. Throughout this brief Mr. Nichols will be referred to by name and "trial counsel" and "Defendant's second lawyer." The Florida Department of law enforcement is called the "FDLE," its popular acronym.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal of the trial court's denial of a motion for post-conviction relief in a death penalty case. The subject motion for post-conviction relief was filed on May 28, 1996. R1, p40 to R2, p246.

This case has already been before this Florida Supreme Court once in connection with the trial court's denial of an earlier motion for post-conviction relief. In <u>Reed v. State</u>, 640 So.2d 1094 (Fla. 1994) this Florida Supreme Court generally rejected all of the claims in Appellant's earlier motion for post-conviction relief but held that Appellant was entitled to an evidentiary hearing on claims relating to ineffective assistance of counsel. This Court also held that Appellant was entitled to pursue government agency documents through the public document acquisition procedures set forth in F.S. Chapter 119 and Rule 3.850, Fla. R. Crim.

P. Id., p. 1098.

Accordingly, the office of the Florida State Capital Collateral Regional Counsel (which represented the Appellant at the time) filed the subject motion for post-conviction relief. It set forth a large number of "ineffective assistance of counsel" claims. R1, p40 to R2, p246. It also advanced a claim, based on newly discovered evidence, that the State violated evidence-disclosure requirements of <u>Brady v. Maryland</u>, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S.Ct. 1194, 10 L.Ed. 215 (1963) when it failed to disclose evidence that was beneficial to the defense. R2, p. 239-244.

The trial court conducted a hearing pursuant to <u>Huff v. State</u>, 622 So. 2d 982 (Fla. 1993) to determine which issues raised in the subject motion warranted a hearing. R4, p. 674 to R5, p. 873. After receiving argument of counsel, the trial court held that the Appellant was not entitled to a hearing on those "ineffective assistance of counsel" claims concerning (a) the racial exclusion of jurors, (b) the lack of a jury instruction that mere felony murder alone does not justify the death penalty, (c) the lack of further action to protect the Appellant after the aggravating circumstances of "prior felonies of violence" and "cold calculated and premeditated" had been set aside on appeal, and (d) the lack of objection to the "heinous atrocious and cruel" and the "cold, calculated and premeditated" jury instructions. R4, p. 653-660. However, the trial court held that the Appellant was entitled to a hearing on all of the other issues raised in the subject motion. R4, p. 653-660.

The evidentiary hearing lasted from February 19, 2002 to February 20, 2002. R4, p. 674 to R7, p. 1371. On August 28, 2002, the trial court entered its order completely denying the subject motion. R3, p. 512-548. On October 10, 2002, the Appellant timely filed his notice of appeal of that denial order.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On direct appeal from Appellant's judgment and sentence, this reviewing

Court summarized that facts adduced at trial which it considered salient to

Defendant's conviction:

In December of 1985 Reed, accompanied by his woman friend and two young children, arrived in Jacksonville homeless and destitute. Through Traveler's Aid they were given shelter in the home of the Reverend Ervin Oermann, a Lutheran minister. They stayed with Reverend Oermann and his wife, Betty, for just over a week but were asked to leave when Reverend Oermann discovered that Reed had drug paraphernalia. However, Reed continued to receive aid from the Oermanns in the form of money and transportation. Eventually the Oermanns began to feel they were being used and withdrew all support. Reed resented the discontinuance of aid and vowed to get even.

On February 27, 1986, Reverend Oermann returned home from a night class and found his wife, Betty, dead on the living room floor. An autopsy showed she had been strangled, raped, and stabbed repeatedly in the throat. Found in the house was a distinctive baseball cap. For some time this cap was the only lead police had, so they produced a television recreation of the crime and showed the cap. One viewer recognized the cap as being much like one Reed wore. Further investigation revealed that Reed was last seen wearing his cap on the day Mrs. Oermann was killed. Ultimately, he was arrested.

The most significant evidence of Reed's guilt may be summarized as follows:

(a) Witnesses said they had seen Reed wearing his baseball cap on the day of the murder before the probable time of death but not thereafter. They positively identified the cap as Reed's because of the presence of certain stains and mildew. (b) Reed's fingerprints were found on checks that had been taken from the Oermann home and had been found in the yard.

(c) An expert witness gave testimony that hairs found on the body and in the baseball cap were consistent with Reed's hair.

(d) Another expert witness gave testimony that the semen found in the body could have been Reed's.

(e) Reed's cellmate, Nigel Hackshaw, gave testimony that Reed had admitted breaking into the Oermann house and killing Mrs. Oermann.

The jury found Reed guilty. Neither side presented additional evidence in the penalty phase. After hearing arguments by counsel, the jury recommended death by an eleven-to-one vote. The judge delayed sentencing in order that a presentence investigation could be completed. After receiving the PSI and after considering additional mitigating evidence presented by Reed, the trial judge sentenced him to death. The judge found six aggravating factors . . . and nothing in mitigation.

Additional facts relevant to the issues of the present appeal are set forth

throughout the "argument" portion of this Initial Brief.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This is a death-penalty case involving the usual trial by a jury of twelve.

Defense counsel failed to adequately challenge the State's exercise of peremptory striking of black jurors, depriving the Defendant of a jury selected through a racially neutral process. At the conclusion of the presentation of evidence, Defendant's right to a fair trial by jury was further compromised by Defense counsel's comments to the jury conceding the Defendant's guilt and conceding the existence of death-penalty aggravating circumstances. Defendant's right to a fair jury trial was also impaired by defense counsel's failure to obtain a jury instruction clarifying that felony murder, by itself, is insufficient for the imposition of the death penalty.

The Defendant's trial attorney was generally unprepared and remiss in failing to object to improper appeals to the jurors' emotions, and in failing to object to incorrect statements about the Defendant's burden of proof, and in failing to object to incorrect jury instructions on death penalty aggravating circumstances.

The Defendant's trial counsel also failed to utilize any kind of mental health expert witness at trial. As a result, the jury never heard any evidence of Defendant's dysfunctional upbringing, horrible childhood, and mental limitations. The jury was not given any evidence of defendant's mental health or upbringing or psychological background to consider as a non-statutory mitigating circumstances.

Fingerprint evidence and blood and hair "trace" evidence that was found at the victim's home was presented and interpreted by the State's expert witnesses at trial. This evidence undoubtedly factored very heavily in Defendant's conviction. The Defendant and his girlfriend, Chris Niznik, lived as invited guests in the victim's home until told to move out, approximately two months before the murder. TT 372-373, 377, 385-387. As such, one would expect to find some strands of Defendant's hair and some prints from Defendant's fingers about the home and its contents. However, defense counsel failed to hire and use any fingerprint, serology, and hair-type expert witnesses for trial. As a result, the false and misleading testimony of the State's own experts was being presented to the jury substantially unchallenged and uncontradicted. Especially prejudicial was the completely unfounded claim of State fingerprint expert Bruce Scott that one of Defendant's fingerprints which had been found on one of the victim's personal checks was "fresh" and "less than 10 days old." This suggested that it was placed there by the Defendant at the time of the murder.

Defense counsel did not require the State to establish the chain of custody of any of the state's blood, hair or fingerprint evidence. Requiring such proof would have educated the jurors about how mobile and inconclusive hair and body fluid evidence can be, particularly in a case like this one where the Defendant once lived in the victim's house.

Defendant's trial counsel was deficient in failing to present and support an alibi defense. Defendant's trial counsel decided for himself that Defendant was guilty and was lying about his alibi, notwithstanding the Defendant's insistence that he was innocent. Each of these instances of deficient performance by defense counsel, considered individually and cumulatively, indicate that defense counsel did not provide the Defendant with effective representation.

Defendant's judgment and sentence should also be vacated because of a violation of the evidence-disclosure requirements of <u>Brady v. Maryland</u>, 373 U.S. 83 (1963) and its progeny. The Defendant recently discovered evidence which would have been beneficial to the defense and which had been withheld by the State. Following trial, Defendant acquired the report and testimony of Jacksonville Sheriff's Office police officer D.N. Summersill. Officer Summersill found the defendant asleep in a car, a considerable distance from the victim's home, without the incriminating ball cap, very shortly before the time when Reverend Oermann last saw his wife alive.

The Defendant acquired a second type of evidence beneficial to the defense and which was wrongfully withheld by the State. Through the use of post-trial public records demands, the Defendant acquired disciplinary reports and statements of Florida Department of Law Enforcement (FDLE) employees and supervisors which indicated that the FDLE fingerprint expert who testified against the Defendant at trial was caught snorting the cocaine at the FDLE crime lab and had been relieved of his duties prior to testifying against the Defendant. Such impeachment evidence helps explain the expert's outlandish trial testimony and hence was crucial to the defense. The State's failure to disclose it justifies vacating Defendant's judgment and sentence.

The trial court erred in its determination that the Defendant was not prejudiced as a result of ineffective assistance of counsel and the State's nondisclosure of key impeachment and defense evidence. The trial court erred in denying Defendant's motion for post-conviction relief.

ARGUMENT WITH REGARD TO EACH ISSUE

1. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO GRANT AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING ON THE ISSUE OF WHETHER DEFENDANT'S TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE IN FAILING TO ADEQUATELY CHALLENGE THE STATE'S USE OF PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES TO STRIKE BLACK JURORS

The Defendant has alleged that his trial counsel was ineffective in failing to challenge the State's use of eight of its ten peremptory challenges to strike black potential jurors. R1, p. 44-45. The Florida Supreme Court already addressed the legality of the State's removal of black jurors in <u>Reed v. State</u>, 560 So.2d 203 (Fla. 1990) at pages 204-205. That was the original direct appeal of the original judgment and sentence. Citing <u>Kibler v. State</u>, 546 So.2d 710 (Fla. 1989), and <u>State v. Neil</u>, 457 So.2d 481 (Fla. 1984), and <u>State v. Slappey</u>, 522 so. 2d 18 (Fla. 1988) this court upheld the jury selection process and explained, "Here, Reed

does not question the prosecutor's motivation for five of his eight challenges, and the reasons for the other three had at least some facial legitimacy." <u>Reed</u>, supra, pp. 205-206 (emphasis Appellant's).

The present appeal, by contrast, seeks review of the trial court's denial of the subject motion. The Defendant alleged that the State exercised eight out of ten of its peremptory challenges to excuse black prospective jurors. R1, p. 45. The Defendant also alleged that the trial court required the State to explain its reasons for its peremptory strikes of black jurors. R1, p. 45 to 49. Finally, the Defendant alleged that his own trial counsel was ineffective in failing to follow up and challenge the sufficiency of the State's explanations for its striking of black jurors. R1, p. 49, 50, 53-57.¹

In <u>State v. Neil</u>, 457 So.2d 481 (Fla. 1984) this court held that a defense attorney questioning the seemingly racial exercise of peremptory challenges must satisfy a two-prong test: "A party concerned about the other side's use of peremptory challenges must demonstrate on the record that the challenged persons are members of a distinct racial group *and* that there is a strong likelihood that they

¹Citations to the jury trial transcript pages at which the strikes of black jurors appear are included in the subject motion. R1, p. 45. Defendant alleged, in his subject motion, that trial counsel was ineffective with regard to racial jury selection. R1, p. 45-65.

have been challenged solely because of their race." (emphasis appellant's). The Defendant claims that his trial counsel failed to satisfy the second prong of the test by not going beyond merely pointing out the existence of peremptory strikes of members of a distinct racial group. R1, p. 54-57. Trial counsel did not attempt to meet the burden of persuading the trial court that the peremptory strikes were exercised in a racially discriminatory way notwithstanding the State's purported justification. <u>Melbourne v. State</u>, 679 So.2d 759 (Fla. 1996).

In its initial opinion in the appeal of the original judgment and sentence in the present case, this Florida Supreme Court expressed doubts about the racial neutrality of Defendant's jury selection process by stating, "Here, however, because the record reflects that three jurors may have been challenged because of their race, we find it necessary to grant a new trial." 14 Fla. L. Weekly at 299 . This opinion was subsequently withdrawn following the publication of <u>Kibler v.</u> State, 546 So.2d 710 (Fla. 1989) and was replaced by <u>Reed v. State</u>, 560 So.2d 203 (Fla. 1990) which upheld the jury selection process. However, it is fair to say that the jury selection process in this case has warranted the past concern and comments of this reviewing court.

Although the Defendant's alleged that his trial counsel was ineffective in failing to conduct the inquiry needed to satisfy the second prong of the <u>State v.</u>

<u>Neil</u> test (R1, p. 49-50, 53-57), the trial court refused to consider the issue. R4, p. 611-616, 653. This was error. Because there was no evidentiary hearing on this issue, there is no record of what explanation, if any, defense counsel might have given for not taking the further action to effectively challenge the State's strikes of black jurors. Where no evidentiary hearing is held below, the reviewing court accepts the Defendant's factual allegations as true to the extent that they are not refuted by the record. <u>Finney v. State</u>, SC 00-1351 (Fla. 2002). The case should be remanded to the trial court with instructions to grant the Defendant an evidentiary hearing on the issue of whether or not defense counsel was ineffective with regard to the State's exercise of peremptory strikes of black jurors.

2. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN NOT HOLDING THAT DEFENSE COUNSEL'S FAILURE TO USE A HAIR-TYPE EXPERT DENIED DEFENDANT THE EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL

One of the first witnesses called to testify at the Defendant's jury trial was Irvin Oermann. He was the victim's husband as well the pastor of Grace Lutheran Church and he was the first person to discover his wife's murdered body inside of their home. TT 368 -371. Mr. Oermann testified about events occurring between the time of his first encounter with the Defendant up to the discovery of his wife's dead body. On December 11, 1985, he took the homeless defendant and Defendant's family into his own home, as an act of charity extended at the request of the Traveler's Aid society. TT 372. The Defendant lived in the Oermann home from December 11 - 22, 1985. TT 373.

Approximately two months later, on February 27, 1986, Irvin Oermann returned home from teaching a church youth class and discovered his wife's murdered, naked body inside their home TT 377-390. He also found a baseballtype cap lying underneath a table. TT 386-387. It was a red and white ball cap. TT 399. Irvin Oermann picked the cap up and placed it on top of the table. TT 401-402. That cap, and the hair found on it were to become key pieces of evidence in Defendant's trial.

During Defendant's jury trial, testimony regarding the collection of hair evidence was presented by Ms. Carol Herring, Senior Crime Lab Technician for the Florida Department of Law Enforcement. TT 641. She collected three hairs from the cap and also took three hairs from the Defendant's head for comparison. TT 645-647. She also performed "sweepings" to acquire bits of trace evidence from the clothing that was found under and around the body of the victim. TT 641-643. Defendant's trial lawyer expressly waived proof of the chain of custody of the hair evidence. TT 649.

Dr. Peter Lipkovic, the Chief Medical Examiner for the Fourth Judicial Circuit of Florida examined the victim's body and conducted the autopsy. TT 441. Dr. Lipkovic collected some loose hairs from the area just outside of the victim's vagina (TT 458). He also collected additional loose hair from "combings" of the victim's pubic hair. TT 463-464. He explained how he placed the hairs in an envelope and then turned that envelope over to Detective Hugh Eason of the Jacksonville Sheriff's Office. TT 463-646. No objection regarding the chain of custody of hair evidence was raised by defense counsel. TT 464, 467.

The State's hair-type expert was James Luten. He was an employee of the Florida Department of Law Enforcement. TT 652. His expertise was in the field of micro-analysis: the examination and comparison of trace evidence such as hairs and fibers. TT 652. Mr. Luten explained to the jury that the hairs found on the cap were microscopically the same as the hair samples taken from the Defendant's own head. TT 666. Mr. Luten also testified that one of the hairs obtained in the "sweeping" of crime scene clothing was microscopically the same as a head hair sample taken from the Defendant. TT 667-668. James Luten also testified that one of the loose hairs found among the victim's public hair was microscopically the same as a public hair sample taken from the defendant. TT 669-670.

Defendant's trial counsel failed to use a hair expert of his own and never objected or required proof regarding the chain of custody of the hair evidence. At the evidentiary hearing, Defendant's first lawyer testified that when he had been handling the defense, he prepared a motion to incur the costs of mental health, blood, and hair-type experts.

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