# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

### GROVER REED,

Appellant,

CASE NO. SC02-2191

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

# ANSWER BRIEF

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

CHARMAINE M. MILLSAPS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0989134

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 COUNSEL FOR THE APPELLEE

#

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

Basically, all any prosecutor would have to do to rebut this mitigating evidence is explain what an anti-social personality is. All the prosecutor would do is have any mental health expert Reed presented read the DSM-IV to the jury.

The Florida Supreme Court's view of antisocial personality disorder is not clear. Morton v. State, 789 So.2d 324 (Fla. 2001)(holding that the trial court's failure to discuss its rejection of antisocial personality disorder as mitigating circumstance was harmless error but implying that the presence of antisocial personality disorder is mitigating); but see Ford v. State, 802 So.2d 1121, 1135-1136 (Fla. 2001)(viewing lack or absence of sociopathic or psychopathic tendencies as mitigating in nature). While the Florida Supreme Court may view antisocial personality disorder as mitigating, juries do not. Stafford v. Saffle, 34 F.3d 1557, 1565 ( $10^{th}$  Cir 1994)(explaining that an antisocial, sociopathic personality is a double-edged sword because of the real risk that the jury would see the antisocial, sociopathic personality as an aggravating factor rather than as a mitigating one). Juries are not alone. Many judges also view a diagnosis of antisocial personality as "fancy language for being a murderer." Lear v. Cowan, 220 F.3d 825, 829 (7th Cir. 2000) (characterizing "antisocial personality disorder" or "asocial type," as "fancy language for being a murderer"); Clisby v. Alabama, 26 F.3d 1054, 1056 & n.2 (11th Cir. 1994)(noting reasons why antisocial personality disorder diagnoses are not

mitigating). Regardless of how certain Justices view such evidence, counsel cannot be ineffective for failing to present such ambiguous evidence to a jury. Cf Odom v. State, 782 So.2d 510 (Fla. 1st DCA 2001) (Padovano, J., concurring) (explaining that counsel rarely is ineffective for failing to present a voluntary intoxication defense because such a defense rarely offers a realistic chance of success and observing that most experienced criminal lawyers and judges would be hard pressed to come up with a single example of a case in which the defense of voluntary intoxication succeeded citing Evans v. Meyer, 742 F.2d 371 (7th Cir.1984) (rejecting an ineffective claim because "no lawyer in his right mind would have advised [the defendant] to go to trial with a defense of intoxication."). Like intoxication, the mitigation of antisocial personality offered no realistic possibility of the jury recommending life rather than death based on such a diagnosis. Trial counsel is not ineffective for recognizing this reality. Moreover, trial counsel's testimony that he would not have presented this diagnosis even if he had had Dr. Larson's report, precludes any finding of prejudice.

Additionally, any mental health expert testimony that persons who are physically abused as children tend to be violent as adults, also is a double-edged sword. (EH. Feb. 19<sup>th</sup> at 43) This is equivalent to suggesting that Reed is a violent person.

Counsel is not ineffective for recognizing this double-edged sword as being such. 19

Furthermore, at least some of this mitigating evidence, in fact, was presented to the trial court during the penalty phase. Dr. Larson testified regarding Reed's prior commitment to a psychiatric facility. (EH. Feb 19 at 36). At the December 1986 Spencer hearing, trial counsel introduced hospital records from Hendersonville showing drug dependency and records from Middle Tennessee Mental Heath Institute showing "past emotional and drug problems" to the trial court as mitigating circumstance evidence. (Trial at 921-922). These medical records contain the discharge diagnosis of "chronic lead poisoning encephalopathy with seizure disorder." (EH Feb. 21 at 74). Thus, counsel was not ineffective for failing to present psychiatric testimony as mitigating evidence. 20

Moreover, Reed waived mitigating evidence. Counsel cannot be ineffective for following the wishes of his client. Wike v. State, 813 So.2d 12, 18 (Fla. 2002)(rejecting an ineffectiveness

Tompkins v. Moore, 193 F.3d 1327, 1338 (11th Cir.1999) (noting that alcohol and drug abuse is a two-edged sword which can harm a capital defendant as easily as it can help him at sentencing); Clisby v. Alabama, 26 F.3d 1054, 1056 (11th Cir.1994) (noting that many lawyers justifiably fear introducing evidence of alcohol and drug use); Rogers v. Zant, 13 F.3d 384, 388 (11th Cir.1994) (noting reasonableness of a lawyer's fear that defendant's voluntary drug and alcohol use could be "perceived by the jury as aggravating instead of mitigating")

Reed's verbal I.Q. was 83 and his performance I.Q. was 79 which is one point below the low average range. (EH Feb 19 at 71-72). Reed made no claim that his counsel was ineffective for failing to present his I.Q. as mitigating evidence.

claim where counsel's decision was premised upon his client's wishes); Porter v. State, 788 So.2d 917, 922 (Fla. 2001)(noting that a defense attorney is not ineffective for following such instructions by counsel's client).

#### ISSUE XI

DID THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY SUMMARILY DENY THE INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL CLAIM FOR FAILING TO OBJECT TO THE FELONY MURDER AGGRAVATOR? (Restated)

Reed asserts that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the felony murder aggravator jury instruction at the penalty phase to preserve the claim that this aggravator is an automatic aggravator. The State respectfully disagrees. Trial counsel is not ineffective for refusing to object to jury instructions this Court has repeatedly held are proper. Thus, the trial court properly denied this claim of ineffectiveness without an evidentiary hearing.

# The trial court's ruling

The trial court summarily denied this ineffectiveness claim. <u>Procedural Bar</u>

First, this issue should have been raised in the direct appeal and is not properly litigated in post-conviction proceedings. Thus, this issue is procedurally barred. Thompson v. State,796 So.2d 511, 514 n.5 (Fla. 2001)(rejecting an automatic aggravator attack on the felony murder aggravator in post-convition litigation as procedurally barred because it should have been raised on direct appeal); Sireci v. State, 773 So.2d 34, 39-40 n.9 & n.10 (Fla. 2000)(same).

# <u>Merits</u>

Both the Florida Supreme Court and the Eleventh Circuit have held that the felony murder aggravator is not an automatic aggravator. Francis v. State, 808 So.2d 110, 136 (Fla. 2001)(rejecting such a claim); Freeman v. State, 761 So.2d 1055, 1072 (Fla. 2000)(noting that the Court has repeatedly held that there is no merit to this claim citing Blanco v. State, 706 So.2d 7 (Fla.1997); Banks v. State, 700 So.2d 363 (Fla.1997) and Johnson v. State, 660 So.2d 637 (Fla.1995)). See also Mills v. Singletary, 161 F.3d 1273, 1287 (11th Cir. 1998)(finding claim that Florida's felony murder aggravator is automatic "to be meritless" citing Johnson v. Dugger, 932 F.2d 1360, 1368-70 (11th Cir.1991) and Bertolotti v. Dugger, 883 F.2d 1503, 1527-28 (11th Cir.1989)).

In *Blanco v. State*,706 So.2d 7 (Fla. 1997), the Florida Supreme Court explained that the felony murder aggravator is not automatic because the list of enumerated felonies in the felony murder statute is larger than the list of enumerated felonies in the aggravating circumstance statute. The *Blanco* Court then gave a list of examples. A person can commit felony murder via trafficking, carjacking, aggravated stalking, or unlawful distribution, and yet be ineligible for this particular aggravating circumstance. The Court then held that this scheme thus narrows the class of death-eligible defendants. *Blanco*,706 So.2d at 11.

It is not deficient performance for trial counsel to not object to an aggravator that this Court has repeatedly held is

proper. Nor can Reed establish any prejudice. If trial counsel had objected to the aggravator and appellate counsel had raised a automatic aggravator argument, this Court would have merely rejected the claim once again.

### ISSUE XII

DID THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY FIND THAT TRIAL COUNSEL WAS NOT INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO OBJECT TO THE PROSECUTOR'S COMMENTS? (Restated)

Reed asserts his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the prosecutor's comments. Reed objects to the prosecutor's references to the victim as a minister's wife. Reed also argues that counsel should have objected when the prosecutor referred to the defendant as unmarried, the father of illegitimate children who was irresponsible and referred to the victim as a minister's wife who was married for 35 years and who actually lived according to her Christian principles. The State respectfully disagrees. The claim was abandoned. Furthermore, most of the prosecutor's comments were perfectly proper and counsel was not ineffective for not making baseless objections. Thus, the trial court properly denied this claim of ineffectiveness following an evidentiary hearing.

## The trial court's ruling

The trial court denied this claim reasoning:

The defendant's current motion suggests that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the prosecutor's reference to the victim as a minister's wife and the prosecutor's reference to the defendant as the irresponsible father of illegitimate children. Defendant also suggests that it was inappropriate for trial counsel himself refer to the victim's husband as a minister and to

acknowledge to the jury that the defendant was, in fact, a drifter with children born out of wedlock.

The defendant has offered no evidence on this particular issue, either by way of defendant's own testimony or through cross-examination of trial counsel at the evidentiary hearing. Accordingly, this Court concludes that the defendant has abandoned this particular claim.

However, considering this ground in the light most favorable to the defendant, this Court notes that trial counsel did, in fact, object to the prosecution's the of reference to matter the defendant's irresponsibility and his drug use. (See, pp. 375, 513, and 517, TT). Furthermore, trial counsel's direct reference to the actual facts in the case cannot be said to be ineffective. After all, the jury had to have learned that Reverend Oermann was a minister and his wife, therefore, a minister's wife, by the simple fact of the jury's learning of the way in which the defendant, his significant other, and their illegitimate children were introduced to the Oermanns. Counsel's reference to the status of the victim and her husband did little more than to place the entire situation and the defendant into perspective.

With regard to trial counsel's references to the defendant of which the defendant complains, this court concludes that they were appropriate under the circumstances and that they were in direct response to the prosecutor's closing argument. They were also in furtherance of trial counsel's reasonable doubt argument. (See, generally, pp. 783-789, TT). For example, at one point trial counsel said

"Being a drifter and being a father of illegitimate children and being a vagrant and somebody who is loving off somebody else's good will doesn't make you a rapist and a murderer. Being a thief doesn't necessarily make you a rapist and a murderer." (II.5-9, p. 789, TT).

While this one phase might not place the defendant in the best possible light, it is a comment exactly on the evidence presented at trial and the prosecutor's reference to the same in closing argument. The Court concludes that defendant has failed to establish any deficient performance on the part of trial counsel.

(Order at 19-21).

# <u>Abandonment</u>

Reed did not pursue this claim at the evidentiary hearing.

Reed did not call trial counsel to the stand and when the State

called trial counsel to the stand, post-conviction counsel did

not question counsel as to why he did not object to the prosecutor's comments. Thus, Reed has abandoned this claim.

Merits

Trial counsel did, in fact, object. Defense counsel objected to the testimony regarding Reed's irresponsibility on relevancy grounds and to the testimony regarding Reed's drug use due to its prejudicial value. (XII 375; XII 513, 517). The trial court overruled the first objection and denied the motion for mistrial regarding the second objection finding the evidence relevant to establishing a motive. Counsel cannot be ineffective for failing to make objections that in fact he made.

There is nothing improper about a prosecutor referring to a witness by his proper title. Moreover, in this particular case, the jury would have known that the victim was a minister's wife because the defendant met the victim through Traveler's Aid. It was through this organization that Reed was given shelter in the home of Reverend Oermann, a Lutheran minister and his wife, Betty. So, in this particular case, his profession was relevant to establish how the victim came to know the defendant and why the defendant had been living in their home. The prosecutor referring to the Reverend as a reverend is not error. Trial counsel is not ineffective for failing to make baseless objections to the prosecutor's proper comments.

Reed also asserts that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the prosecutor's argument that the jury should show the defendant the same mercy that the defendant

showed the victim. In the penalty phase, the prosecutor commented: "please do not be swayed by any pity or sympathy for the defendant. What pity or sympathy or mercy did he show Betty Oermann?" (T. 878). There was no objection. While this Court has held that the prosecutor should not argue that the jury should show the same mercy to the defendant as he showed to the victim, these cases were decided after this trial was held in State, 604 1986. Richardson v. So.2d (Fla.1992) (finding that the prosecutor committed error in asking the jury to show the defendant as much pity as he showed his victim but finding error harmless beyond any reasonable doubt); Rhodes v. State, 547 So.2d 1201, 1206 (Fla.1989) (remanding for a new penalty phase proceeding based on several errors including the prosecutor's closing argument which was "riddled with improper comments" one of which was that jury show defendant same mercy shown to the victim on the day of her death). It is only deficient performance for counsel to fail to object to prosecutorial comments which have been held to be reversible error at the time of the trial. Nor is there any prejudice. Such a comment, while error, is not sufficient, standing alone, to warrant a mistrial. Kearse v. State, 770 So. 2d 1119, 1129-1130 (Fla. 2000)(determining single comment by prosecutor that jury should show the same mercy he showed to Officer Parrish was harmless error).

Reed's reliance upon *Rachel v. State*, 780 So.2d 192 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001), is misplaced. The Second District in *Rachel* remanded a case for an evidentiary hearing on a claim of ineffectiveness

for failing to object to the prosecutor's comment. The trial court had summarily denied the motion without conducting an evidentiary hearing. The prosecutor in Rachel referred to the defendant as a "damn liar" who shed "hypocritical" tears on the stand which was an insult to the victim and her family. prosecutor also implied that Rachel was not crying immediately following the murder: "When the kill was fresh, when Mrs. Green's blood was still warm ... his attitude, his emotion was not tears. It was hostility. It was defiance. It was anger." The prosecutor ridiculed defense counsel for using "trial techniques" such as putting her hand on Rachel's shoulders during voir dire, thus showing that she was not afraid of him and that he was not a bad guy, calling him by his first name and referring to him as a sixteen-year-old child in an attempt to depict him as a very immature kid. The prosecutor referred to these techniques as "attitude manipulation." The Second District reversed for an evidentiary hearing.

Here, Reed was granted an evidentiary hearing and did not pursue this issue at that hearing. None of the prosecutor's comments in *Rachel* are remotely similar to the prosecutor's comments in this case. Here, the prosecutor did not attack trial counsel in any manner in his comments. Thus, trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to the prosecutor's comments. Thus, this claim was abandoned and is meritless.

#### ISSUE XIII

DID THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY FIND NO INEFFECTIVENESS BASED ON CUMULATIVE ERROR? (Restated)

Reed asserts that the cumulative errors of his counsel amount to ineffective assistance of counsel as well. The State respectfully disagrees. There was no ineffectiveness and therefore, no cumulative ineffectiveness. Thus, the trial court properly denied this claim of cumulative ineffectiveness.

# The trial court's ruling

The trial court rejected this claim of ineffectiveness by ruling:

Lastly, the Court notes that it has also considered the cumulative performance of trial counsel, and still concludes that there has been no deficiency established such as would have affected the outcome of the defendant's trial.

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